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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IFf KNOWN} PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Mill Creek Church, also known as Mauck's Meeting House, is situated above Mill
Creek in the town of Hamburg. Built between 1795 and 1800 by the Mennonite-Baptist
congregation of the Mill Creek settlement, the impressive planked log structure, cnce
covered with beaded weatherboard, measures approximately thirty-six feet by twenty~nine
feet. The logs, hewn to a width of seven and one-half to eight inches, are ioined by
finely executed half and full dovetail notching, fitted together with such precision
that the opening between any twe logs is generally less than two inches. In recent
years the dry-laid stone foundation had all but disintegrated and the structure had
been left sagging, but the foundation has since been rebuilt, and adequate supports
have been installed beneath the church to level the building. FEach of the logs is cut
from a single member, although due to deterioration, several of the sills and lower
members have been spliced with later materials and repaired.

The entrance doors on the south (front) and west (side) are raised six-panel Federal
doors and the architrave is a simple one-section molding. The window sash are nine-
over-six, some appearing to be origimal, with each window protected by a beaded board
shutter fastened with strap and pintle hinges. This hardware, at least on the front
windows, appears to be original.

It is believed that the weatherboarding was added in a remodeling of the building

around 183C, The cut nails in some remaining nailing strips support this claim. Also
installed at the time of the remodeling were the flanking balconies and stairs at the
gable ends, The roof was raised tc accommodate the balconies which are well-executed
and are reached by two narrow open-string stairs with rectangular Federal-style balusters
composing the railings. Each balcony is supported by two massive chamfered columns.

The chamfers, terminating in lamb's tongue designs, are deep enough to create the effect
of octagonal posts. This treatment is repeated in the stair newels. The flight of
stairs at the east side of the church is an open-well stair, while the flight at the
west end is a straight run, The balconies are fixed by cut nails with wrought heads
that would suggest their installation at the time of the remodeling. The logs are
exposed on the intericr of the building and are whitewashed.

The ¢xisting pews are simple, straight back pews converted from puncheon benches.

One pew bears the marking '"S+ST 1830". A six-plate, cast-iron stove made in Luray

and signed "D Pennabacker 1799" was at one time used for heating but has been replaced
by a modern stove., The Pennabacker stove is kept on display. The figure of a stork,
the patron bird of Germany, appears on the end panel of the stove.

The church is roofed with chestnut shingles, now covered with tin. A simple box cornice
is employed, probably dating from the remodeling.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Mill Creek Cnurch stands as a symbel of the influeatial role played by the dissenters,
zspecially the Mennonites and the Baptists, in the early society of the Shenandoah
Valley. 1Its congregation was probably organized around 1772 by John Koontz, formerly of
Fanguier County. The dissenters originally met in their homes; it is not documented

wnen Koontz's group decided cn the need for a meeting house, The earliest specific
rezference to tha Mill Creek Church was recordad in 1798 in the church minutes, thus
establishing that the building was standing by that time. <Claims have been made that

the church was built at the time of the Revolution, but such claims are supported meither
iy documentation nor architectural evidence.

Alttwuazh both Memnouites and Baptists used the building, it is uncertain which group
dominated in the early years. In any case, the Baptists prevailed, as the Mennonites
lorgely left the area by the early nineteenth century. In 1807, Joseph Mauck, owner of
the lard on which the building stood, conveyed the property to the Ysundry persons friends
of relizion and good order" who had been using it., The language of the deed is indicative
of the strong religicus feeling prevalent at ths time:

Tnis indenture Witnesseth that whereas Sundry persons, inhabitants

of the County of Shenandoah in the state of Va., friends of religion and
good corder, did by Subscription build a house of worship on the land

of Joseph Mauck of said County which house is commonly known and called
by tha name of Maucks Meeting House in which housz it was intendsd by
the projectors or Subscribers afore said all crders of Christians and
all worshipers of God preaching a wcral doctrine and behaving decently
should be allowed to preach and it was also their intention to buy a
small lot of land on which saild hous2 stands a title to which should be
made to 1o one or more of them but that the house and lot aforesaid
should be forever devoted to the public for advancement of religious
and other pious pruposes...

it was pot unusual for church edifices to be built on private propervty, in this case that
of [aniel Mauck, Joseph's father. 4An 1811 deed specifically excludes the "one acre,

12 square perches" whereon stood '"Mauck's MMeeting House.' Although the building was for
all denowinations, the Baptists seem to have had salmost exclusive occupancy.

Amowig the famous Baptist preachers who spoke here were Martin Kauffman (an early Mennon-
ite), Anderson Moffat, and Rev. James Ireland, a former Presbyterian. The Mill Creek

~ Cnurch was called the "Mennonite-Baptist Church' since so many of its members came from

thar combined faith. There were many Negro slaves ag well as "free men of color" who
were members of the Mill Creek Church during the nineteenth century according to the
carefully kept minutes of the congregation.

{see Continuation Sheet #2)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE

Mill Creek Church is noted as a well-executed example of plank-log comstruction,
an unusual feature in a building of such large proportiouns,
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